FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/13/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/13/2022 4:45 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>100</u>829-5 (COA No. 54787-2-II)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD KINSGLEY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. At a bench trial, the court must find the prosecution has proven all essential facts and elements necessary to establish the charged offense. Here, the court summarily concluded Mr. Kingsley was guilty of child molestation without finding his conduct was for the purpose of sexual gratification, yet this is a necessary factual element of the charge. Where the court convicted Mr. Kingsley without explicitly finding all essential

elements were proven, does the conviction violate due process as mandated by the state and federal constitutions?

2. Article I, section 22 expressly guarantees and strongly protects the right to appeal in a criminal case, which is further reinforced by the Fourteenth Amendment. On appeal, Mr. Kingsley challenged the court's failure to find all necessary elements of the charged offense. Instead of reversing his conviction due to this plain error, the Court of Appeals remanded the case and directed the trial court to enter findings of fact. The trial court tailored its findings in an effort to cure the issues raised on appeal. Should this Court grant review where the Court of Appeals refused to reverse a conviction imposed despite the court's failure to find all essential elements and instead permitting the trial court the tailor belated findings to rectify a fatal flaw in the conviction raised on appeal, unfairly undermining Mr. Kingsley right to appeal?

3. A court may only impose an exceptional sentence if it finds there are substantial and compelling reasons to impose a sentence above the standard range based on the purposes of the Sentencing Reform Act. Here, the court ordered Mr. Kingsley to serve an exceptional sentence because an aggravating factor existed, while also finding the case did not involve any egregious or serious conduct. The Court of Appeals ruled that the mere existence of an aggravating factor automatically justifies an exceptional sentence, contrary to the controlling statute. When the court does not find substantial and compelling reasons for an exceptional sentence, is this sentence invalid under the governing statute and is there substantial public interest meriting review when the Court of Appeals ruling encourages courts to ignore this mandatory component of an exceptional sentence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a bench trial in January 2018, Donald Kingsley was convicted of one count of child molestation in the first

degree and he appealed. CP 40; RP 417, 450-51. He filed a brief arguing there was insufficient evidence he touched E.P. for purposes of sexual gratification, which is required for a conviction but was not found by the court. COA 51748-5-II. Without addressing the insufficiency of the evidence, or any other issues, this Court remanded the case for the trial court to enter written findings of fact. CP 42. The parties had not asked the appellate court for this remedy.

On remand in July 2020, the trial court entered written findings of fact prepared on the prosecution's pleading paper. CP 12-13. The court entered a new judgment and sentence that did not change any if its terms. CP 18-21, 46-50. Mr. Kingsley appealed. CP 9.

¹ "RP" refers to the verbatim report of proceedings from Mr. Kingsley's trial and sentencing in 2018, which have been transferred to this appeal. Additional transcripts from the hearings held after remand are referred by to the date of the proceeding.

At the 2018 bench trial, E.P. was eight years old. RP 282. She testified that one night while she was sleeping in a bedroom she shared with her two sisters and brother, Mr. Kingsley touched her on her "girl part," which meant between her stomach and knees. RP 290-91, 318. He rubbed the blanket covering her and also touched her skin under her clothes. RP 289, 291. He stopped and left the room but later returned and "tried to do it again, but I told him to leave." RP 293. He left without touching her and did not return. *Id*.

The next day, she told her mother Mr. Kingsley touched her "over her clothes" and "he went inside," then she "slapped his hand, told him no and he went away." RP 292, 339. Her mother, Heidi Parker, asked if it was possible Mr. Kingsley was checking to see if she had wet her bed or something like that. RP 339. Ms. Parker said Mr. Kingsley was a close friend who

² The Brief of Appellant in COA 51748-5-II is available at: https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A02/517485-Appellant's%20Brief.pdf (last viewed April 13, 2022).

frequently helped care their children and often stayed at their home. RP 341, 349.

Ms. Parker said E.P. told her, "I slapped his hand," which her mother took to mean she was not dreaming. RP 339. E.P. told her father that Mr. Kingsley came into the bedroom and "started rubbing the blanket near her private area, but she didn't use the word right at first." RP 353. She also said he put his hands "up her shorts" that she was wearing and it hurt her. RP 353.

E.P.'s parents took her for an interview with a police officer. RP 178. The officer recorded the interview. RP 181. In the interview, she described being touched in her private parts, on her back and front, and said her back meant her butt. RP 194, 202-04, 215. She did not know a name for the place he touched her in front. RP 217.

The police got a warrant to secretly record a conversation between Jeremiah Parker, E.P.'s father, and Mr. Kingsley. RP

230, 243-55. In the recording, Mr. Kingsley repeatedly denied touching E.P. RP 243-51. Mr. Parker insisted he would call the police if Mr. Kingsley kept denying it happened, and said, "You can't just deny it." RP 249-51. Mr. Kingsley eventually said, "I did touch her." RP 254. When asked how, he said "probably in the way she described." *Id.* When asked if he made "full skin" contact "down there," he said yes, and he did not go very far and felt bad. RP 255. He said did not know why he did it. RP 256.

At trial, Mr. Kingsley explained he did not touch E.P. in any inappropriate way. RP 371-74. He was sleeping on the couch when he heard E.P. making noises and he went to see if she was okay. RP 372. He thought she might be having a seizure based on the way her legs were moving, causing him concern, so he touched her leg. RP 373-74. He left when she calmed down. RP 374. He heard another noise later and went to check on E.P. but she told him to go away, and he did. RP 374. He said felt pressured and intimidated when speaking to E.P.'s father, his

good friend who was threatening to end their friendship and call the police if he did not say he did something, but it was not true that he acted improperly toward E.P. RP 378-80. He thought if he told his friend what he wanted to hear, he would leave him alone. RP 380.

The prosecution charged Mr. Kingsley with one count of rape of a child in the first degree and one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 66-67. The court acquitted him of the rape allegation, based on insufficient evidence. RP 413. It convicted him of child molestation, ruling E.P. was touched in a private area. RP 415. It did not find this touching was for the purpose of sexual gratification. RP 415-17. It also found Mr. Kingsley abused a position of trust. RP 417.

The prosecution requested a sentence above the standard range based on the abuse of trust aggravating factor. RP 432-33, 439. The court ruled there was no evidence this behavior happened more than once, or there was any grooming or other

inappropriate conduct to trigger a sentence greater than the standard range. RP 447-48. However, the court imposed a minimum term of 70 months to life, several months longer than the 68-month high end of the standard range. RP 448.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. When the court does not find all essential elements of the charged offense in a bench trial, reversal is required. The error is not validly cured by letting the trial court tailor findings of fact to address this error
 - a. In a bench trial, the court must find the prosecution proved all essential elements of the offense.

The burden of proving the essential elements of a crime rests upon the prosecution. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all essential elements is an "indispensable" threshold of evidence the State must establish to garner a conviction. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

For evidence to be legally sufficient, a "modicum of evidence" on an essential element is "simply inadequate." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 320, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L.

Ed. 2d 560 (1979). Rational inferences from the evidence "must

be reasonable and 'cannot be based on speculation.'" *State v. Hummel*, 196 Wn. App. 329, 357, 382 P.3d 592 (2016) (quoting *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013)).

When an accused person waives the right to trial by jury and instead agrees the judge will be the fact-finder, the court must enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law to explain its verdict. *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 621, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998); CrR 6.1(d). These findings "must be sufficiently specific to permit meaningful review," by addressing the material facts and the legal elements of the offense. *In re Det. of G.D.*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 67, 69, 450 P.3d 67 (2019).

A court's findings of fact must address each element and set out the factual basis for each conclusion of law. *Head*, at 623; *see State v. Banks*, 149 Wn.2d 38, 43, 65 P.3d 1198 (2003). "[T]he findings must specifically state that an element has been met." *Banks*, 149 Wn.2d at 43.

Remanding a case during an appeal for the entry of belated findings of fact is "strongly disfavored." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 79416-7-I, 2020 WL 6708732, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 16, 2020). It is disfavored because entering findings "after the appellant has framed the issues in the opening brief has the appearance of unfairness." *State v. McGary*, 37 Wn. App. 856, 861, 683 P.2d 1125 (1984).

When remand for written findings occurs, a court is prohibited from tailoring its findings to respond to deficiencies raised on appeal or otherwise adding new information to the record. *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 624-25. Double jeopardy principles bar the prosecution from having a second bite at proving its case by delaying mandatory findings, or taking advantage of the circumstances by adjusting the factual basis of the conviction to rectify errors raised in the appeal. *Id.* at 625; U.S. Const. amend. V; *see Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 15, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57

³ Unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1(a) as

L.Ed.2d 1 (1978) (prohibiting further proceedings after prosecution has failed to prove all elements of offense).

An appellant shows "actual prejudice from the lack of findings or remand for entry of findings" when "the belated findings were tailored to meet the issues raised in the appellant's opening brief." *State v. Pruitt*, 145 Wn. App. 784, 794, 187 P.3d 326 (2008). If the findings produced after remand are tailored to cure errors identified in the appeal, the findings are inadequate and reversal is required. *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 624-25. Here, the findings were entered to meet the issues raised on appeal but the Court of Appeals disregarded the rule set out in *Head*.

b. The belatedly entered findings of fact are impermissibly tailored to fix issues raised on appeal.

Mr. Kingsley has a strongly protected constitutional right to direct appeal under article I, section 22 and the Fourteenth Amendment. He timely exercised this right and submitted an

persuasive, not binding, authority.

opening brief contending the prosecution had not met its burden of proving he acted for the purpose of sexual gratification. COA 51748-5-II, Brief of Appellant. Proof of sexual gratification is a critical "ultimate fact" necessary to impose a conviction of child molestation. *See State v. T.E.H.*, 91 Wn. App. 908, 916, 960 P.2d 441 (1998). Mr. Kingsley argued there was insufficient evidence to prove this essential fact, requiring reversal. COA 51748-5-II, Brief of Appellant, pp. 1, 16-19.

Even though Mr. Kingsley properly raised this issue on appeal, the Court of Appeals refused to address the issue. It did not rule on Mr. Kingsley's argument that there was insufficient evidence he acted for the purpose of sexual gratification or address any other issues raised on appeal. CP 42. Instead, the court *sua sponte* remanded the case for the entry of findings of fact, which was not a remedy the parties sought. *Id*.

At the end of the original bench trial, the court had issued a detailed oral ruling that did not find the prosecution proved this

gratification. RP 415-17. The court did not even mention this necessary finding. *Id.* Instead, the court focused on whether and where E.P. was touched. RP 415-17. The absence of a finding on an essential, disputed fact shows the prosecution had not met its burden of proof. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) ("In the absence of a finding on a factual issue we must indulge the presumption that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain their burden on this issue.").

After the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* sent the case back to the trial court for entry of written findings, the court entered findings of fact directly targeted toward addressing the absence of proof challenged on appeal. The trial court entered its written findings on July 16, 2020, more two and a half years after the January 2018 trial. CP 12-13. They were drafted by the prosecution. *Id.* Six of the seven findings the court entered following Mr. Kingsley's appeal expressly state the evidence

showed the touching was sexual in nature, despite the complete absence of this information in the court's detailed oral ruling issued after the bench trial in 2018. CP 12-13; RP 415-17. This error was not merely an inadvertent mistake but rather was the crux of the case -- there was no a dispute that Mr. Kingsley, a close family friend, touched E.P., but the dispute was centered on why he did so. Because he was a caregiver for the children, it was no uncommon for him to help the children fall asleep. The court's failure to enter findings on this necessary factual element demonstrated the court's failure to find the prosecution met its burden of proof. *See Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d at 14.

The findings entered years after the trial are not premised on rulings the court made at the time of trial. Indeed, as Mr.

Kingsley argued on appeal, the findings misconstrued and extended the testimony beyond what the witnesses actually said.

The belated findings of fact do not accurately state the testimony

offered at trial. They misrepresent this testimony and can only be interpreted to correct an error raised on appeal.

It is well-established that when the fact-finder does not find the prosecution proved all essential elements, reversal is required. *See State v. Webb*, 147 Wn. App. 264, 271, 195 P.3d 550 (2008) (ordering reversal when evidence regarding omitted findings was not in record).

This Court has also made clear that reversal is appropriate "where a defendant can show actual prejudice resulting from the absence of findings and conclusions." *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 624. The court did not find Mr. Kingsley acted for the purpose of sexual gratification, until after he raised this error on appeal, long after the trial occured. The prosecution took advantage of the remand order to craft findings of fact to cure this deficiency, which prejudiced Mr. Kingsley. The findings stretch the evidence beyond the trial testimony to meet the issues raised on

appeal. This constitutes actual prejudice and undermines the conviction. *Id.* at 624-25.

The Court of Appeals disregarded this error. It simply deferred to the court's belatedly entered findings of fact and decided that even if the evidence did not expressly support the court's belated findings, the fact-finder could have inferred them. It disregarded the tailoring that produced these findings and did not address its role in mandating findings of fact rather than addressing the lack of evidence Mr. Kingsley raised in his original appeal. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this Court's decision in *Head*, deprives Mr. Kingsley of his right to direct appeal, and merits review as a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

2. The Court of Appeals decision disregards the mandatory components of an exceptional sentence, is contrary to *Friedlund*, and invites courts to dilute the requirements for exceeding the standard range.

The court's authority to impose an exceptional sentence above the standard range requires more than a statutorily

authorized aggravating factor. RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537. Once the fact-finder determines there is proof of an aggravating factor, the court must also "consider[] the purposes" of the SRA and find the aggravating factor constitutes "substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537(6).

To find substantial and compelling reasons justify an exceptional sentence, the court must "take into account factors other than those which are necessarily considered in computing the presumptive range for the offense." *State v. Fisher*, 108 Wn.2d 419, 423, 739 P.2d 683 (1987) (quoting *State v. Nordby*, 106 Wn.2d 514, 518, 723 P.2d 1117 (1986)). This determination rests on reviewing the purposes of the SRA, determining an exceptional sentence is consistent with its purposes, and assessing the strength of the State's case to decide whether an exceptional sentence is in the interest of justice. *See State v. Hyder*, 159 Wn. App. 234, 263, 244 P.3d 454 (2011).

Here, the court did not find there was a substantial and compelling justification for imposing punishment above the standard range. CP 63-64; RP 448; 7/17/20RP 12, 15-17. It found the existence of a single aggravating factor, involving the position of trust. CP 63; RP 448. But it also downplayed the significance of this aggravating factor. It noted there was no evidence of other misbehavior and no evidence this was a repeated occurrence. RP 448. It said there was also no evidence of grooming or other efforts to take advantage of children. *Id.* It explained "[t]here aren't a lot of factors beyond the position of trust that would lead the court to go over the high end of the standard range." *Id.* It rejected the prosecution's request to significantly exceed the standard range by setting an 84-month minimum term. RP 443, 448.

Yet the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 70 months as a minimum sentence, which was two months longer than the top of the standard range. RP 448. The only reason the

court gave for imposing this exceptional sentence was the existence of the aggravating factor. *Id.*; CP 63-64. It did not find there were substantial and compelling reasons for imposing an exceptional sentence.

"When a trial court imposes an exceptional sentence, the SRA requires the court to 'set forth the reasons for its decision in *written findings of fact and conclusions of law.*" *State v.*Friedlund, 182 Wn.2d 388, 394, 341 P.3d 280 (2015) (quoting RCW 9.94A.535) (emphasis added in *Friedlund*). Written findings are necessary to provide the finality of a judgment and sentence and to enable a defendant to meaningfully appeal. *Id.* at 394-95.

The written findings enable "the Sentencing Guidelines Commission and the public at large" to readily determine the reasons behind exceptional sentences, which is essential to "the public accountability that the SRA requires." *Id.* at 395.

The court entered the written findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the aggravating factor. CP 63-64. But these findings only explain the evidence underlying the aggravating factor. *Id.* They do not include any finding by the court that there are substantial and compelling reasons to impose an exceptional sentence as required by RCW 9.94A.535; CP 63-64.

For example, in *Hyder*, the court's written order stated each aggravating circumstance was a substantial and compelling reason for justifying an exceptional sentence; said an exceptional sentence "is in the interest of justice and consistent with the purposes" of the SRA; and found this sentence "is appropriate to ensure that punishment is proportionate to the seriousness of the offense." 159 Wn. App. at 263. The appellate court ruled that explanation satisfied the court's obligation. *Id*.

Unlike *Hyder*, the court's findings in Mr. Kingsley's case lack any basis to impose an exceptional sentence. They simply recount the existence of an aggravating factor. CP 63-64.

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