FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2022 4:25 PM

NO. 56432-7-II

BY ERIN L. LENNON IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD KINGSLEY,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 54787-2-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 17-1-00352-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. NICHOLS Prosecuting Attorney

JESSE ESPINOZA Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

223 East 4th Street, Suite 11 Port Angeles, WA 98362 (360) 417-2301

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington. The answer is filed by Clallam County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Jesse Espinoza.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State respectfully requests this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Kingsley*, No. 54787-2-II (Mar. 15, 2022), a copy of which is attached to the petition for review.¹

The Court of Appeals, Division II, in conformity with well-established principles held that Kingsley's insufficiency of evidence argument failed because the trial court found that all essential elements of the crime of Child Molestation in the First Degree were proven at the bench trial and the trial court's finding that Kingsley had sexual contact with E.P. was

¹ *See also State v. Kingsley*, 2022 WL 782373, at *1 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2022).

supported by substantial evidence. *State v. Kingsley*, 2022 WL 782373, at *7 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2022).

The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court did not impermissibly tailor its late findings to the issues on appeal and Kingsley was not prejudiced "[b]ecause there was sufficient evidence to prove sexual contact and because the trial court's later written findings properly conveyed the trial court's findings at the time of trial." *Id.* at *8.

Finally, the Court of Appeals found that "it is clear that Kingsley's use of a position of trust to facilitate the crime was the trial court's reason for the exceptional sentence" and that was an acceptable reason for an exceptional sentence. *Id.* at *9 (citing RCW 9.94A.353(3)(n)). The Court held further that the trial court did not err by imposing the exceptional sentence without using the words "substantial and compelling" "[b]ecause it is clear that the sentencing court imposed the exceptional sentence for a permissible reason and incorporated its written findings regarding that reason into the judgment and

sentence. *Id.* (citing RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n); *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)).

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The Court of Appeals, without addressing issues initially raised on appeal, remanded the case to the trial court to comply with CrR 6.1(d) and enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law of the bench trial. The Court of Appeals found that the late findings and conclusions address the each element of Child Molestation as required and that they were consistent with the trial court's oral ruling at the time of trial. Should this Court should decline to accept review because the petition fails to establish that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with State v. Head, 136 Wn.2d 619, 621, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998) which holds that the remedy for failure to enter writing findings after a bench trial is to remand the case for entry of findings?

2. Whether this Court should decline to accept review of the exceptional sentence because it was imposed for a reason set forth in RCW 9.94A.535(3) as an aggravating factor that justifies an exceptional sentence and this Court has already held in *State v. Mutch* that a sentencing court is not required to use the precise phrase "substantial and compelling" in its written findings of fact and conclusions of law? 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

E.P., an eight year old female, was in her bed when Donald Kingsley, a longtime and close family friend and babysitter, entered the bedroom and touched her private parts as she was trying to sleep. RP I 194, 218. Kingsley stuck his hand under E.P.'s shorts and rubbed and penetrated her private parts

² References to the record in this brief appear as "RP I and CP I" from the first appeal no. 51748-5-II and "RP II and CP II" from the current appeal cause no. 54787-2-II.

and then left the room. RP I 200–204, 290. E.P. got up to go sleep on the couch with her older sister and Kingsley came in again. RP I 204. Kingsley began touching E.P. again but E.P. slapped his hands away and told him to go away. RP I 204.

The State charged the defendant with Rape of a Child in the First Degree and Child Molestation in the First Degree, both with special allegations of abuse of a position of trust. CP I 158.

Kingsley waived his right to a jury (CP I 66) and during the bench trial E.P.'s forensic child interview conducted by Detective Erick Smith was admitted in evidence as State's Ex.

1. RP I 184. Kingsley's conversation with E.P.'s father, recorded by means of a covert wire, was also admitted in evidence as State's Ex. 2. RP I 239. Live testimony consisted of E.P.'s testimony. RP I 290–93.

Detective Eric Smith interviewed E.P. on Aug. 25, 2017. RP I 174, 182. E.P. told Det. Smith that her babysitter Donnie was touching her private parts when she was trying to sleep the night before. RP I 194. That night, after E.P. and her siblings

went to bed after watching movies, she got up to use the restroom and then went back to bed. RP I 194. Then Donnie came into the bedroom when she was sleeping with her siblings and he started touching her private parts. RP I 194. Donnie started messing around with her by sticking his hand in her pants and then moving his hand different ways. RP I 202, 203. While Kingsley was rubbing E.P. with one hand, E.P. said he had his other hand on his own leg. RP I 214. E.P. clarified that Kingsley was rubbing her private parts under her underwear in a way that one would rub a wasp sting. RP I 213–14, 226.

E.P. said that Donnie then left the room and came back but she had moved to the couch to sleep with her older sister.

RP I 204, 205. Donnie tried to touch her again and rubbed her over her blanket when she slapped his hand away and told him to go away. RP I 205, 228. E.P. reported what Kingsley did to her mother the next morning. RP I 210.

On Sept. 6, Det. Smith obtained a wire order to authorize the covert recording of a conversation between Mr. Parker

(E.P.'s father) and Kingsley. RP I 230. The conversation was recorded on Sept. 7, 2017, with Mr. Parker wearing a wire. RP I 231, 241–42.

In the recorded conversation, Kingsley admitted to Mr. Parker that the prior Thursday when he stayed the night at Mr. Parker's house (RP I 242), Kingsley did touch E.P. and probably in a way that E.P. claimed. RP I 254. Mr. Parker pointed out to Kingsley that Kingsley had been "part of the family" 16 plus years. RP I 242. Kingsley denied touching E.P. at first and claimed he went into their bedroom to get them to quiet down and go to sleep. RP I 243–44. Kingsley affirmed that he wanted to continue to be part of the family. RP I 244.

Kingsley eventually admitted that he touched E.P. "down there" and made full skin contact "down there" and "rubbed" her and put his hands inside her although he didn't go very far.

RP I 255. Kingsley told Mr. Parker that he did not intend to hurt E.P. or anybody and that he felt bad about it. RP I 254, 256.

Kingsley affirmed that it only happened with E.P. and not with

any of Mr. Parker's other children. RP I 256. Kingsley offered that he would get counseling in order to assure Mr. Parker that it was not going to happen later down the road with someone else's child. RP I 256.

At trial, E.P. testified consistently with her recorded interview:

That I was covered and then he left the room and he came back later and rubbed on the blanket again in the same spot and then he put his hand underneath the blanket and then started to rub on my private parts and then he stuck his hands inside my pants and stuck it deep inside my girl part and just started rubbing.

RP I 290.

E.P. clarified again that Kingsley had his hands under her clothes as he touched her skin and penetrated her and rubbed her. RP I 291–92. She also testified that after she moved to the couch to sleep with her sister, Kingsley came back again and tried to touch her until she told Kingsley to go away. RP I 293.

The trial court found Kingsley guilty of Child

Molestation in the First Degree and guilty of the aggravating

factor of abuse of a position of trust, but not guilty of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. RP I 413–18.

<u>Trial Court's Oral Findings September 23, 2018 (RP I 415–17)</u>

The trial court's oral findings at the conclusion of the bench trial were as follows:

"Now, in regard to the other charge, this court can find that this child, which the court found to be competent to testify, made statements that were not long after the incident, in fact, the very first thing she did when her mom was available to her, she disclosed what happened, she disclosed the incident, she disclosed the rubbing, she disclosed what happened in what words an eight year old would use to do so. Her mom looked for even, tried to convince her, well, couldn't it have been something else, could it have been touching in some other way, was this some sort of innocent thing? She was adamant it was not innocent touching. This is an eight year old, it's never happened before but she knew it was wrong and she went to her

mother, she went to her father, told him a similar story, not as specific and the parent's did what is the appropriate thing to do which is to go to law enforcement and then law enforcement did the forensic interview and during the forensic interview she made it very clear that there was touching in her private areas, that he did these things and in that time she did not disclose anything more than would meet the burden to find that there was molestation. The defense basically says, well, maybe she made this up or she was sleeping or that she didn't understand what was happening. No, I find that she was molested and I also find that Mr. Kingsley, when he was confronted by father, when he had this opportunity to talk about the event and father, Jeremiah, asked him questions and tried to pin him down to what happened. I don't see that interview or that colloquy that they had with each other as being in anyway intimidating or that he would have felt threatened by that because as the way I see it, that happened, he had an opportunity to go outside, smoke a cigarette, he finished his beer, this was a conversation

between two longtime friends, there was no indication that he feared anything and then when-- I mean, I guess the father did say, well, if you're not gonna admit it, I'm still gonna go to the police because this happened and then suggest that well, I still have the clothes she was wearing and there's possibly DNA evidence and then all of a sudden, okay, I touched her, you know, I did this and it happened like she says and, you know, I didn't go very far, I felt bad about it. He readdressed his remorse and he acknowledged that he rubbed her and so I can find beyond a reasonable doubt that molestation occurred, so I find him guilty of Child Molestation as filed in the information."

At sentencing, the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence upward of 70 months to life. CP I 29, 30. The court entered written findings that the defendant used his position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crime of Child Molestation in the First Degree. CP I 45, 46.

In Kingsley's first appeal under Washington Court of Appeals cause no. 51748-5-II (hereinafter "Br. of Appellant I") Kingsley argued that there was insufficient evidence that he touched E.P. for purposes of sexual gratification. Kingsley also argued that the court erred by imposing the exceptional sentence upward on the basis that he used his position of trust to aid in committing the crime because he was not technically babysitting on the night in question as the parents were home. Br. of Appellant I at 23.

Without addressing the issues raised in Kingsley's appeal, the Court of Appeals remanded the case back to the Clallam County Superior Court to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law on the bench trial as required under CrR 6.1(d).

On remand, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law for the bench trial. CP II 12–13. A new judgment and sentence with the same terms was filed along

with the same written findings for the exceptional sentence. CP II 15, 31.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW FAILS TO ESTABLISH ANY OF THE CRITERIA GOVERNING THIS COURT'S ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or

If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

//

//

1. The petition should be denied because the late findings of fact and conclusions of law were consistent with the trial court's oral ruling at the time of trial and were supported by substantial evidence.

The petitioner claims that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *State v. Head* and argues that the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* remanded the case for entry of findings without first addressing an issue raised on appeal regarding the claim of insufficient evidence to prove sexual gratification. *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 624, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998); Br. of Petitioner at 14, 18.

State v. Head holds that "failure to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by CrR 6.1(d) requires remand for entry of written findings and conclusions." 136 Wn.2d 619, 624, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998) (emphasis added).

In accordance with *State v. Head*, the Court of Appeals did exactly what it was supposed to do and waited for the completed findings before addressing any issues raised on appeal.

Furthermore, there was no prejudice from alleged improper tailoring because the findings were consistent with the trial court's oral ruling regarding the element of sexual contact and the facts supporting that element. It is clear that "sexual gratification" is not an essential element, but rather, is a definitional term clarifying the meaning of the essential element of "sexual contact." *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 36, 93 P.3d 133 (2004).

The additional findings that the touching was "for the purpose of sexual gratification" and that "the defendant's touch was sexual in nature" flow naturally from the oral findings that Kingsley rubbed E.P. in her vaginal area and E.P. was adamant that the touching was not innocent and she knew it was wrong. Thus the findings and conclusions were based on evidence already taken and there was no prejudice to Kingsley. *See Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 625 (citing *State v. Alvarez*, 128 Wn.2d 1, 20-21, 904 P.2d 754 (1995); *State v. Souza*, 60 Wn. App. 534, 805 P.2d 237 (1991)).

Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision did not conflict with *State v. Head* and review should be denied.

2. The petition should be denied because the written findings for the exceptional sentence show that it was imposed for a reason authorized by RCW 9.94A.535(3) and the sentence is not rendered invalid for lack of the exact words "substantial and compelling" in the judgment and sentence.

The petitioner argues that the exceptional sentence should be reversed because trial court did not find there was "substantial and compelling" reason justifying the exceptional sentence.

The trial court found that the offender used his position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crime of Child Molestation in the First Degree. CP II 31, 32. This statutory aggravating factor justifies the imposition of an exceptional sentence. Therefore the trial court's finding was a "written finding of a substantial and compelling factor, justifying an exceptional sentence, in satisfaction of RCW 9.94A.535." *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011) (holding

that the trial court's written finding that the defendant's high offender score will result in current offenses going unpunished, a statutory aggravating factor, was a written finding of a substantial and compelling factor, justifying an exceptional sentence).

Because the trial court entered a written finding of a substantial and compelling factor, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *State v. Friedlund*, which holds that written findings are required when a court imposes an exceptional sentence. *State v. Friedlund*, 182 Wn.2d 388, 393, 341 P.3d 280 (2015).

Therefore this Court should deny review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b) because Kingsley has not established that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts a decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals. Further, Kingsley

fails to establish that this case raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

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